ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE ERRED IN CONSIDERING RESPONDENT'S PRIOR DISCIPLINARY RECORD

After the finding of guilt and prior to recommending discipline, the Referee considered the Respondent's prior disciplinary record. This in and of itself was not error.. However, to consider the thirty (30) day suspension in Case No. 85,109 and the ninety-one (9 1) suspension in Case No. 86,271 was error.

The Supreme Court ruled in <u>The Florida Bar v. Carter</u>, 429 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1983) that were the alleged misconduct in the resent case occurred prior to the decision in the previous case, the cumulative misconduct argument is applicable.

In the above-noted case, the Respondent had recently been publicly reprimanded by the Court. The Court held that under the circumstances, "[t]he prior discipline could not, therefore, have deterred his conduct in this case." id at 4

The decisions rendered against the Respondent, Jordan, resulting in his suspension from the practice of law were rendered in October, 1996. The last alleged misconduct regarding Respondent and Ms. Mitchell allegedly occurred in February, 1996.

Clearly, the referee erred in considering those two (2) cases prior to his recommendation.

٠

ARGUMENT

II. THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF A ONE YEAR SUSPENSION IS EXCESSIVE

The **range** of appropriate discipline for neglect of a legal matter and inadequate communication is between a public reprimand and a six month suspension.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Knowlton</u>, 527 So.2d 1378 (Fla. 1988), the Respondent received a public reprimand for neglect of a legal matter and failure to respond to a client's inquiries. The neglect of the legal matter allowed the **statute** of limitations to run.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Riskin</u>, 549 So.2d 178 (Fla. 1989), the Respondent received a public reprimand for neglect of a legal matter. Again, the neglect of the legal matter allowed the statute of limitations to run.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Rolle.</u> 661 So.2d 301 (1995), the Court imposed **a six (6) month** suspension **on** the Respondent for neglect in two matters. Respondent had a prior disciplinary record.

The Court has broad latitude in reviewing a referee's recommendation for discipline. The Court in <u>The Florida Bar v. Morrison</u>, 669 So.2d 1040 (1996), gave the purposes of sanctions:

"The sanction must be fair to society, the sanction must be fair to the attorney and the sanction must be severe enough to deter **other** attorneys from similar misconduct." id at 1042

The Court's previous rulings clearly indicate that the discipline recommended by the Referee is excessive.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

III. THE REFEREE ERRED IN HIS RECOMMENDATION THAT RESPONDENT BE SUSPENDED UNTIL PROOF OF PASSAGE OF THE FLORIDA BAR EXAMINATION IS PROVIDED

The recommendation of proof of passage of the Florida Bar Examination by the Respondent is unduly harsh and excessive.

In a matter similar to the Respondent's, the Court in <u>The Florida Bar v. Morrison</u>, 669 So.2d 1040 (Fla. 1996), found that passage of the ethics portion of the Florida Bar Examination was a sufficient showing of rehabilitation.

In the above-cited case, Respondent, Morrison, was found guilty of Rules 4-1.3, 4-1.4(a), 4-8.4(a) and 4-8.4(g). In addition, the Court found matters in aggravation, specifically: "Respondent's prior disciplinary offense, a pattern of misconduct, multiple offenses, obstruction of the disciplinary proceeding, refusal to acknowledge the wrongful nature of conduct and indifference to making restitution." id at 104.1

The only matter in aggravation found in this cases was the consideration of the prior disciplinary offenses, which Respondent argues should only have occurred regarding two (2) early matters. No other matters in aggravation were made.

In fact, in this case, the Respondent readily admitted his wrongdoing regarding Rules 4-1.1, 4-1.3 and 4-1.4; responded to all disciplinary inquiries and in fact attempted to make restitution which the Referee construed as a violation of Rule 4-1.8 (h)

If the Court agrees with Respondent's argument that the previous suspension of Respondent should not be considered as a matter in aggravation, then Respondent's and Morrison's previous disciplinary record are quite similar

The Court should also consider its ruling in The Florida Bar v. Rolle, 66 I So.2d 302 (Fla. 1995), where again it ruled that passing the ethics portion of the Florida Bar Examination was sufficient proof of rehabilitation.

In <u>Rolle</u>, the Respondent was Found guilty of two counts of 4-1.3 and 4-1.4 and one count of 4-8. I(b). Rolle had previously received a private reprimand for failing to adequately represent a client in a matter and failure to inform a client of the status of his matter.

Lastly, the Court should consider its ruling in <u>The Florida Bar v. Flowers.</u> 672 So.2d 526 (Fla 1996), where again it ruled that the passing of the ethics portion of the Florida Bar Examination was sufficient.

Flowers was found guilty of Bar Rules 3-4.8, 4-1.1, 4-1.3, 4-1.4(a)(b), 4-2.1, 4-5.3© and 4-8.4(d). Flowers had a prior history which included a private reprimand for neglect, public reprimand for inadequate trust account record keeping procedures and a suspension for trust account violations.

In order for a sanction to be proper, it must not only be fair to society but it just also be fair to the attorney. This sanction is fair to neither party.

A proper sanction would be suspension until proof of passage of the Ethics portion of the Florida Bar Examination is provided.

CONCLUSION

The referee erred in considering the Respondent's prior suspensions prior to making his recommendations regarding sanctions.

A proper sanction which serves society and the attorney would be a suspension of no more that six (6) months and thereafter until proof of passage of the Ethics portion of the Florida Bar Examination is provided.