IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 89,111 [TFB Case No. 96-31,185(18C)]

v.

ROBERT PAUL JORDAN, II,

Respondent.

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER RRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR.
Executive Director
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
(904) 561-5600
ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN T. BERRY
Staff Counsel
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
(904) 561-5600
ATTORNEY NO. 217395

AND

JAMES W. KEETER
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
880 North Orange Avenue
Suite 200
Orlando, Florida 32801-1085
(407) 425-5424
ATTORNEY NO. 771252

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 29, 1996, the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "C" voted to find probable cause in this matter. The bar filed its complaint on or around October 10, 1996. On October 18, 1996, this court entered its order directing the Chief Judge of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit to appoint a referee. The referee was appointed on October 28, 1996. Because the respondent failed to comply with the bar's discovery requests or answer its Requests for Admission, the referee entered an order on January 17, 1997, deeming the Requests for Admission to be admitted. However, the referee requested a brief hearing on February 13, 1997, in order to better assess the evidence. At the hearing, the respondent admitted to having violated rules 4-1.1, 4-1.3 and 4-1.4 but denied having violated rule 4-8.4(c).

In his report dated April 7, 1997, the referee recommended the respondent be found guilty of violating 4-1.1 for failing to provide competent representation; 4-1.3 for failing to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client; 4-1.4 for failing to keep a client reasonably informed as to the

status of a matter, comply with reasonable requests for information and explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to enable the client to make informed decisions regarding the representation; 4-8.4(c) for engaging in conduct involving fraud, dishonesty, deceit, or misrepresentation; and 4-1.8(h) for making an agreement prospectively limiting the lawyer's liability to a client for malpractice.

The respondent filed his petition for review of the referee's report on June 17, 1997, and served his initial brief on August 4, 1997. The bar would note that the respondent's brief is not timely.

The board of governors considered the referee's report at its May, 1997, meeting and voted not to seek an appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The following facts, unless otherwise noted, are derived from the Report of Referee.

In 1989, Christine Mitchell brought a civil action against Jack Eckerd Corporation, Travelers Insurance Company and an unknown pharmacist. At the time, she was represented by Estelle Powell, who was admitted to practice law in Indiana but not in Florida. In November 1989, Ms. Powell was granted leave to appear pro hac vice. Ms Powell had written the respondent on October 23, 1989, to memorialize a telephone conversation of that date, concerning the respondent's notice of appearance to be filed in Mitchell's case. She wrote to the respondent again on Ms. December 11, 1989, advising him that he had 20 days from the court's order of November 27, 1989, to amend the complaint. He was also to interview Ms. Mitchell and her husband. However, the respondent failed to file the amended complaint until after the deadline passed. Further, he included Travelers Insurance Company as a defendant even though the insurance company had already been dismissed as a defendant in the action, Defense counsel moved to

dismiss the respondent's amended complaint on the basis that the respondent improperly included Travelers as a defendant and the attorney's fee claim was barred under the doctrine of resjudicata. After the respondent was substituted as counsel of record, he filed a second amended complaint, again naming Travelers as a defendant.

difficult to Powell and Ms. Mitchell found it Powell wrote to the communicate with the respondent. MS. respondent on April 25, 1990, and asked the respondent to contact her concerning a notice of ex pate hearing on a motion to dismiss the amended complaint. The respondent failed to contact her. On May 16, 1990, the court struck Travelers as a defendant once again and struck the respondent's claim for attorney's fees. Thereafter, on July 21, 1992, opposing counsel moved to dismiss the action due to the respondent's failure to prosecute it. The court granted the motion after the respondent failed to respond to the court's order directing him to show cause as to why the matter should not be dismissed. The respondent failed to advise either Ms. Powell or Ms. Mitchell of the dismissal. Ms. Powell learned of it after she checked with the clerk's office to

determine the status of the suit. She immediately wrote the respondent on May 11, 1993, and requested that he seek reinstatement of the case. The respondent failed to take any action. The respondent had no explanation for the dismissal when he later met with Ms. Powell and Ms. Mitchell. He offered to pay Ms. Mitchell by entering into a contract with her because he had no malpractice insurance to cover any claim she might make. He never advised her to seek the advice of independent counsel prior to entering into such an agreement.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The respondent's misconduct occurred between late 1989 and 1996. This court's prior disciplinary orders of October 31, 1996, concerned the respondent's misconduct between 1990 and 1992. Therefore, such misconduct could be properly considered as an aggravating factor.

The referee's recommendation as to discipline is supported by the Florida Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and case law. If the recommended discipline is not clearly erroneous or not supported by the evidence, this court will afford it a presumption of correctness. The Florida Bar v. Barcus, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S275 (Fla. May 15, 1997). Further, conditioning the respondent's reinstatement on passage of the bar exam is an appropriate recommendation. The referee made the recommendation after observing the respondent's demeanor and considering the respondent's misconduct in evidence presented. The this disciplinary case calls into serious question his competency to practice law.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE REFEREE PROPERLY CONSIDERED THE RESPONDENT'S PRIOR DISCIPLINARY HISTORY.

The referee properly considered the respondent's prior discipline. On October 31, 1997, this court ordered the disciplined in The Florida Bar v. Jordan, 682 So. 2d 548 (Fla. Oct. 31, 1996), and The Florida Bar v. Jordan, 682 So. 2d 547 (Fla. Oct. 31, 1996). Although the above disciplinary orders were entered after the instant misconduct occurred and, therefore, would be excluded as "prior discipline" or "cumulative misconduct" under the rationale of The Florida Bar v. Carter, 429 so. 2d 3 (Fla. 1983), the past misconduct should not be excluded as an aggravating factor under Standards 9.22(c)and(d), Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

This court distinguished prior discipline from cumulative misconduct in <u>The Florida Rar v. Adler</u>, 589 So. 2d 899 (Fla. 1991). Although Mr. Adler argued that the referee should not have considered his previous disciplinary history because a prior

disciplinary proceeding occurred after the instant violations, this court stated "cumulative misconduct can be found when the misconduct occurs near in time to the other offenses, regardless of when the discipline is imposed." Adler, supra, at 900, citing The Florida Bar v. Golden, 566 So. 2d 1286, 1287 (Fla. 1990).

In Adler, supra, the lawyer's prior discipline was imposed for misconduct which occurred in 1977 and 1978, but which misconduct the bar did not discover until 1989. This court found that it was appropriate to consider the past misconduct both as prior discipline and as cumulative misconduct in aggravation. In Golden, supra, this court distinguished prior discipline (for purposes of deterrence) and cumulative misconduct. Misconduct that occurred in 1985 was considered cumulative with misconduct that occurred in 1986; therefore, the court ordered Mr. Golden disbarred rather than suspended for the two-year period recommended by the referee. Golden, supra, at 1287.

Further, because the responsibility rests with this court for determining the appropriate level of discipline, Barcus, supra, it is appropriate for this court to consider in

aggravation discipline imposed against a respondent after the misconduct was committed because such misconduct shows a course of conduct. After entry of the prior disciplinary orders in October, 1996, this court suspended the respondent on March 6, 1997. The Florida Bar v. Jordan, 690 So. 2d 1301 (Fla. 1997). The 91-day suspension runs concurrently with the suspensions imposed in the two orders of October, 1996. The respondent's prior conduct illuminates his character and fitness to practice law. The Florida Bar v. McHenry, 605 So. 2d 459, 461 (Fla. 1992).

The respondent's disciplinary history is a required consideration in a report of referee. The respondent also included two of his own past disciplinary cases in the proposed report of referee he sent to the referee on March 12, 1997, with the statement that, under The Florida Bar v. Carter, 429 So. 2d 3 (Fla. 1983), and The Florida Rar v. Dunagan, 565 So. 2d 1327 (Fla. 1990), such cases could not be considered as prior misconduct for purposes of aggravation. The bar merely listed the respondent's two October, 1996, suspensions in the past disciplinary history portion of its proposed report and made no

argument concerning whether they should be considered in aggravation.

POINT II

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE: IS SUPPORTED BY THE CASE LAW AND THE EVIDENCE.

Although the ultimate responsibility for imposing the appropriate level of discipline rests with this court. The Florida Bar v. Nowacki, 22 Fla. L. Weekly S492 (Fla. July 17, 1997). Because the referee has the opportunity to observe a respondent's demeanor, cooperation in the disciplinary process, forthrightness, remorse, and rehabilitation or potential for rehabilitation, this court affords a presumption of correctness to the referee's disciplinary recommendation if there is a basis in the existing case law for such a recommendation. The Florida Bar v Lecznar, 690 So. 2d 1284, 1288 (Fla. 1997). The bar submits the case law and the Florida Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions fully support the referee's recommended discipline.

The respondent's misconduct warrants a discipline more

severe than a public reprimand or six-month suspension. Lenient discipline, as argued by the respondent, clearly is not appropriate in this matter because of the respondent's prior disciplinary history for engaging in similar misconduct. Importantly, the respondent's client suffered prejudice as a result of his neglect and incompetent representation. Her cause of action was dismissed and cannot be reinstated because it is now time barred. This was not an isolated instance of neglect. The respondent's misconduct reveals a continuing pattern of neglect and an inability to competently meet client needs.

In The Florida Bar v. Morrison, 669 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 1996), year, required to lawyer was suspended for one restitution, and required to take and pass the ethics portion of exam after neglecting clients' cases resulting in the bar prejudice to the clients. In one matter, the attorney was hired to represent a dentist in a federal civil action that had already been filed by another attorney. The attorney failed to timely file his notice of appearance or take any other action, which resulted in dismissal of the case without prejudice. he did refile the action but again failed to pursue it. Although the court dismissed the action without prejudice, the statute of limitations had expired and the case could not be refiled. During the course of the representation, the attorney failed to respond to the client's repeated requests for information. He failed to return his sizeable fee after the matter was dismissed for the second time despite having done little, if any, work to justify the fee.

In a second matter, the attorney in Morrison was retained to represent a client in a personal injury action. He failed to pursue the matter for a period of four years. As a result, the client received no compensation for her injuries nor assistance with her medical bills during that period. The attorney failed requests for information. In respond to her repeated aggravation, Mr. Morrison had a prior disciplinary history for engaging in similar misconduct, there was evidence of a pattern of neglecting client cases, multiple offenses, and refusal to cooperate in the bar's disciplinary proceeding. Mr. Morrison showed indifference to making restitution to the harmed clients and refused to acknowledge the wrongful nature of his misconduct. There were no mitigating factors. In rendering its opinion, this

court stated that **a** lawyer's failure "to pursue representation on behalf of a client resulting in prejudice to a client's rights is an intolerable breach of trust." Morrison at 1042.

A three-year suspension was ordered in The Florida Bar v. King, 664 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 1995), for multiple counts of neglect causing prejudice to clients. In one case, the attorney failed to timely file an answer to a complaint. A default judgment was entered against his client. In a second case, the attorney failed to appear at a motion hearing and the court entered a final summary judgment against the client. In a third case, he failed to advise his client of a scheduled deposition. result, the client failed to appear for the deposition. fourth matter, the attorney failed to keep his clients informed about the status of a matter and failed to respond to their requests for information. Mr. King had a prior history of engaging in similar misconduct by neglecting clients and harming their interests. In addition, the misconduct occurred while Mr. King was on probation ordered in a prior disciplinary matter.

A lawyer was suspended for a period of eighteen months in

The Florida Bar v. Greenspahn, 396 So. 2d 182 (Fla. 1981). The attorney was charged with four instances of misconduct. failed to attend a pretrial hearing in one matter and, as a result, the court dismissed the case. Thereafter, he failed to advise the client of the dismissal and misrepresented to the client that it was still pending and had been settled in the client's favor. In a second matter, the attorney allowed a wrongful death case to be dismissed due to lack of prosecution. In a third instance, the attorney undertook a contingency fee matter but failed to advise the client, after determining there were problems with the claim, that he did not intend to litigate the case. In a fourth matter, the attorney failed to maintain his trust account in compliance with the rules, which caused checks to be returned for insufficient funds. Like respondent's case, the proceedings against Mr. Greenspahn involved misconduct that occurred near in time to actions for which he had already been disciplined. The court considered the prior misconduct in aggravation despite the fact that discipline for the misconduct could not have operated as a deterrent.

In The Florida Bar v. King, 242 So. 2d 705 (Fla. 1971), a

lawyer was suspended for one year due to one instance of neglect. He was retained to represent two clients in a criminal appeal and was paid a fee for his services. Despite five extensions of time granted by the appellate court to file the brief, the attorney failed to file the brief. The court dismissed the appeal. In aggravation, Mr. King had a prior history of similar misconduct, although the prior disciplinary case was not yet final at that time. There were no mitigating factors.

POINT_III

THE REFEREE APPROPRIATELY RECOMMENDED THAT THE RESPONDENT BE SUSPENDED UNTIL PROOF OF PASSAGE OF THE BAR EXAM.

The respondent was found guilty of failing to provide his client with competent representation. This resulted in prejudice to the client, Ms. Mitchell. The referee properly recommended that the respondent take and pass the entire bar exam, rather than just the ethics portion of it. The referee has wide latitude in recommending sanctions and probationary or reinstatement terms. The Florida Bar v. Lawless, 640 So. 2d 1098, 1101 (Fla. 1994); The Florida Bar v. Whitaker, 596 So. 2d 672, 673-674 (Fla. 1992).

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Kennedy</u>, 439 so. 2d 215 (Fla. 1983), this court required a lawyer to take and pass the entire bar exam prior to reinstatement from a three-year suspension. He had been convicted of criminal misconduct and had no prior disciplinary history. The referee recommended that the attorney be required to pass only the ethics portion of the exam. However, this court determined that passage of the entire exam was more appropriate given the facts.

A referee's recommendation as to reinstatement terms should be afforded the same presumption correctness as a recommendation of discipline. The respondent should be required to take and pass the bar exam. This is an appropriate method to assure the respondent's competency to resume the practice of law. Under these facts, and considering the respondent's prior disciplinary history, passing the bar exam would compliment the purpose of a reinstatement hearing, which is to determine whether a suspended lawyer is sufficiently rehabilitated to resume the practice of law. In re Hurtenbach, 27 So. 2d 348, 349 (Fla. 1946).

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, The **Florida** Bar prays this court will review and uphold the referee's findings of fact and recommendation of a one-year period of suspension with reinstatement conditioned on the respondent taking and passing the bar exam and tax costs currently totaling \$1,427.49 against the respondent.